# 2010-CA-00375 T

#### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or the Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

- 1. Michael Turner, Appellant
- 2. Jane Turner, Appellee
- 3. Jonathan Martin, counsel for Appellee
- 4. R. Shane McLaughlin, counsel for Appellant
- 5. Nicole H. McLaughlin, counsel for Appellant

R. Shane McLaughlin

Attorney of record for Appellant

###

#### **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

- 1. Whether the Final Decree of Divorce should have been set-aside since Michael Turner did not receive notice of trial.
- 2. Whether, in any event, there was sufficient evidence introduced to grant a divorce based on habitual drunkenness.
- 3. Whether the Chancellor erred by allowing Michael Turner visitation with his child solely at the discretion of Jane Turner.
- 4. Whether the Chancellor erred in dividing the marital property and apportioning marital debts.
- 5. Whether the Chancellor erred in awarding Jane Turner attorneys' fees where there was no evidence introduced to support the award.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Jane Turner filed a Complaint for Divorce on March 23, 2005. (R. p. 005). Michael Turner filed an Answer and Counter-Complaint on April 15, 2005. (R. p. 011).

The Court entered a Temporary Order on March 10, 2006. (R. p. 049). By Order entered on November 12, 2009, Michael Turner's trial counsel was allowed leave to withdraw and the trial was rescheduled. (R. p. 125). Trial was held in Michael Turner's absence on December 8, 2009, and the Court entered a Final Decree for Divorce. (R. p. 126-28). On December 17, 2009, Michael Turner filed a Motion for a New Trial, to Set Aside Final Decree for Divorce, or Alternatively to Alter or Amend Judgment. (R. p. 131). The post-trial motion was heard on February 2, 2010. (See T. p. 96). The Court denied Michael Turner's Motion by Order entered on February 5, 2010. (R. p. 137-38).

Michael Turner timely perfected this appeal. (R. p. 140).

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Michael Turner ("Michael") and Jane Turner ("Jane") were married on February 2, 1996. (R. p. 006). The Parties had one child, Cameron Turner, born on April 22, 1996. (T. p. 85).

Jane filed a Complaint for Divorce against Michael alleging as grounds habitual cruel and inhuman treatment, habitual drunkenness or alternatively irreconcilable differences. (R. p. 006). Michael, through counsel, filed an Answer denying that Jane was entitled to a divorce. (R. p. 012).

During most of the proceedings in the Trial Court Michael was represented by attorney Jak Smith. (See, e.g., R. p. 049-051, 053). Smith represented Turner at a hearing on temporary features in the litigation. (See T. p. 1). During the temporary hearing both Jane and Michael testified. (T. p. 3, 34). At the conclusion of the hearing the Court awarded temporary custody of the minor child, Cameron Turner, to Jane and allowed Michael visitation under the "Farese Schedule." (T. p. 70). The Court also awarded Jane temporary use and possession of the marital home. (T. p. 72).

After the entry of the Temporary Order, Attorney Smith sought and was granted leave to withdraw from his representation of Michael on November 12, 2009. (R. p. 125). The Order entered on November 12, 2009, provided, in pertinent part, as follows:

- 1. Over the objection of Plaintiff, the Hon. Jak M. Smith, counsel for Defendant, is hereby allowed to withdraw as counsel of record for Michael Turner. The Court finds that counsel has demonstrated good cause for his withdrawal and that no undue prejudice to Defendant will result. Defendant shall have ten (10) days from the date of this Order to secure new Counsel.
- 2. Further, this matter is hereby reset for trial on the merits on the December 8<sup>th</sup> 2009 at 9:30 a.m. at the Prentiss County Chancery Building located in Booneville, MS.

(R. p. 125).

Michael Turner was present in Court on November 12, 2009. (T. p. 102). Attorney Smith told Michael that he was going to withdraw from the representation. (T. p. 103). Smith also told Michael that he would help him find another lawyer to represent him and he would contact him later about this. (T. p. 103-04). Michael understood that Smith would contact him in January or February 2010. (T. p. 104). Attorney Smith did not, however, tell Michael that his case was going to be reset for trial on December 8, 2009. (T. p. 104).

The trial on the merits went forward in this case on December 8, 2009, in Michael's absence. (See, e.g., T. p. 79). Jane and one other witness testified at the very brief trial. (T. p. 79, 90). Jane testified that Michael would drink beer and take prescription drugs everyday and that he often would not eat all day. (T. p. 81). Jane testified that Michael would pass out in the home regularly. (T. p. 81). Jane's testimony regarding Michael's alleged drinking was scant and did not provide any details as to the duration of the alleged drinking, any negative effect on her or the deterioration of the marriage. (See, e.g., p. 81, 83).

At the conclusion of the trial the Chancellor granted Jane a divorce based on her allegation of habitual drunkenness. (R. p. 126). The Chancellor awarded physical and legal custody of the minor child to Jane, allowing Michael only "visitation with the Parties' minor child as agreed upon between the parties and at the discretion of Plaintiff." (R. p. 127). The Chancellor awarded the marital home to Jane and divested Michael of title to the property. The Chancellor also awarded Plaintiff attorneys' fees in the amount of \$1,500. (R. p. 128).

Michael Turner had not appeared at the December 8, 2009, trial because he never knew it was scheduled for that day, or any other day. (R. p. 104-06). Attorney Smith had not given Michael a copy of the Order which allowed him to withdraw and set the trial date nor did he tell

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> At the previous temporary hearing, Michael had denied habitual drunkenness and testified that he suffered from narcolepsy, a sleeping disorder. (See T. p. 61). Michael explained that he had suffered from narcolepsy all his life and he sometimes fell asleep when eating. (Id.).

Michael about the resetting. (R. p. 105). Michael had been represented in the case continuously since it had been filed prior to Smith's withdrawal, and had appeared in Court several times before Smith withdrew. (T. p. 102). Michael had never missed a Court date until the trial on December 8, 2009. (T. p. 102).

At a post-trial hearing in this case, the Parties stipulated to attorney Jak Smith's testimony regarding this crucial issue. The Parties stipulated that Jak Smith would testify that he had no memory of giving Michael a copy of the November 12, 2009, Order which allowed his withdrawal and set a trial for December 8, 2009. (T. p. 97). Also, Smith's office document management system showed that his office had not mailed a copy of the November 12, 2009, Order to Michael. (T. p. 98). Attorney Smith likewise recalled that, on November 12, 2009, he told Michael that he would assist him in locating another lawyer to represent him. (T. p. 98). The Chancellor accepted the Parties' stipulation as to Attorney Jak Smith's testimony. (T. p. 99).

Michael Turner, testifying on his post-trial motion, similarly testified as follows:

Q: Mr. Turner, this is very important. On November 12, 2009, did Mr. Smith tell you that your case had already been reset for trial?

A: No, sir.

Q: Did Mr. Smith inform you that your case was set for trial for December 8, 2009, at the Prentiss County Chancery Building in Booneville, Mississippi?

A: No, sir.

\* \* \*

Q: Mr. Turner, on your oath today, did you know anything about the December 8, 2009 trial date prior to December 8, 2009?

A: Definitely not, sir.

(T. p. 104, 107).

Michael's father, Douglas Turner, also testified at a hearing on Michael's post-trial motion. (T. p. 119). Douglas Turner testified that he learned that Michael had missed his Court date and called to ask him why he had not gone to Court. (T. p. 119). Michael was shocked his case had gone to trial without his knowledge and told his father that he had not known about the Court date. (T. p. 120).

Michael requested the Court to set aside the Final Decree to allow him to be heard on the merits of his case. (See T. p. 109). Michael testified that he should have a specific visitation schedule since the Court's Judgment essentially deprived him of all visitation with his son. (T. p. 108). The Judgment left Michael's visitation exclusively at the discretion of Jane, who had an acrimonious personal relationship with Michael. (T. p. 108). Also, Michael testified that he had paid for the marital home and should have been entitled to some of the equity from the home. (T. p. 109). Michael further testified that there were several debts accumulated during the marriage which were not apportioned in the Court's Final Decree. (T. p. 110).

Despite the uncontraverted testimony that Michael had not received notice of the trial, and regarding the other infirmities with the Final Decree, the Chancellor denied any relief to Michael. (T. p. 136). In so ruling, the Court stated:

[T]he Court does not find that this Defendant has made or presented to this Court a good reason for not making the appearance for the hearing of this case on December 8, 2009. Accordingly, the Court finds that the motion to set aside the decree be and the same is hereby denied.

(R. p. 136). The Court concluded that Michael's request for a new trial was thus moot, and denied Michael's motion in its entirety. (T. p. 138; R. p. 137).

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

In domestic relations cases, a Chancellor's findings are not reversed "unless those findings are clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was applied." Sproles v. Sproles,

782 So. 2d 742, 746 (Miss. 2001). That is, factual issues are reviewed only for manifest error. Sproles, 782 So. 2d at 746. However, issues of law are reviewed de novo. Oswalt v. Oswalt, 981 So. 2d 993, 995 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007).

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

Michael Turner never received notice of the trial in this case and was never properly served with the Order setting trial under Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 5. When Michael's trial counsel withdrew from the representation Michael was never informed that his trial was simultaneously reset for approximately one (1) month later. Although Michael became *pro se* as of the moment the Chancellor signed the Order allowing his trial counsel to withdraw, Michael was not mailed or delivered a copy of the Order setting the trial as required by Rule 5(b). Because Michael had no notice of the trial date he was not afforded with an opportunity to be heard. The Chancellor's decision should be reversed and a new trial should be ordered.

Regardless of the lack of notice, the Judgment should also be reversed in several other respects. First of all, there was woefully insufficient evidence to support a divorce based on habitual drunkenness. There was no evidence as to the amount of Michael's alleged drinking, the duration of the drinking, whether the alleged drinking was ongoing at the time of trial or even whether the drinking caused any negative impact on the marriage. Such evidence was required to support a divorce on this ground. Accordingly, should the Court reach this issue, the Chancellor's decision should be reversed and rendered.

Next, the Chancellor erred in allowing Michael visitation solely at the discretion of Jane Turner. This visitation is grossly unworkable and deprives Michael of reasonable visitation with his child. This visitation falls far short of the minimum required by Mississippi law.

The Chancellor also erred in dividing the marital property and failing to apportion any marital debts. Although Michael paid for the marital home, which was the Parties' most significant asset, he received none of the equity in the home. The Chancellor ignored significant debts incurred during the marriage.

Finally, the Chancellor erred by awarding Jane attorneys' fees. There was no evidence that Jane was unable to pay her attorneys' fees. In fact, the record reflects that Jane was financially able to pay her own attorneys' fees.

#### **ARGUMENT I.**

THE CHANCELLOR ERRED BY NOT SETTING ASIDE THE FINAL DECREE SINCE MICHAEL DID NOT RECEIVE NOTICE OF THE TRIAL.

Due process requires that a party be given adequate notice of Court proceedings. See Vincent v. Griffin, 872 So. 2d 676, 678 (Miss. 2004). A Defendant is entitled to notice of his trial. Cf. Thames v. Smith Ins. Agency, 710 So. 2d 1213, 1214 (Miss. 1998) (finding that Court did not err in denying new trial because defendants had received sufficient notice of trial). In order to affirm a Trial Court's judgment there must be some evidence in the record to refute a claim of lack of notice. See In the Interest of N.W., 978 So. 2d 649, 654 (Miss. 2008). In N.W., the Court stated that "the lack of proof in the record concerning notice to the father at these various hearings . . . causes us to conclude that this case must be remanded." N.W., 978 So. 2d at 654.

It is undisputed on the record in this case that Michael Turner was not given notice of the December 8, 2009, trial date. Michael had appeared and defended his interests in this case, and had never missed a Court appearance. When his trial attorney, Jak Smith, withdrew he was not

informed that the case was set for trial less than one (1) month in the future. Not one shred of evidence refutes Michael's contentions that he did not receive notice of the trial setting.

Further, Michael was never properly served with the Order setting the December 8, 2009, trial pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 5. All documents subsequent to the original complaint must be served on all parties to an action pursuant to Rule 5. Miss. R. Civ. P. 5(a). Rule 5 provides as follows regarding service:

Whenever under these rules service is required or permitted to be made upon a party who is represented by an attorney of record in the proceedings, the service shall be made upon such attorney unless service upon the party himself is ordered by the court. Service upon the attorney or upon a party shall be made by delivering a copy to him; or by transmitting it to him by electronic means; or by mailing it to him at his last known address, or if no address is known, by leaving it with the clerk of the court, or by transmitting it to the clerk by electronic means. Delivery of a copy within this rule means: handing it to the attorney or to the party; or leaving it at his office with his clerk or other person in charge thereof; or, if there is no on one in charge, leaving it in a conspicuous place therein; or, if the office is closed or the person to be served has no office, leaving it at his dwelling house or usual place of abode with some person of suitable age and discretion then residing therein. Service by electronic means is complete when the electronic equipment being used by the attorney or party being served acknowledges receipt of the material. If the equipment used by the attorney or party being served does not automatically acknowledge the transmission, service is not complete until the sending party obtains an acknowledgment from the recipient. Service by mail is complete upon mailing.

MISS. R. CIV. P. 5(b)(1) (emphasis added).

In this case, it is undisputed that the Order which allowed attorney Smith's withdrawal and set a new trial date was never served on Michael Turner. Jane could have satisfied Rule 5 simply by mailing a copy of the Order to Michael at his last known address, or personally delivering a copy of the Order to Michael. However, no one even attempted to give Michael a copy of the Order which would inform him of his trial date.

In addressing this issue, the Chancellor found it dispositive that attorney Smith had himself received a copy of the Order. (T. p. 133). However, as of the moment the Chancellor

signed the Order allowing attorney Smith's withdrawal, Smith was no longer Michael's attorney of record. Rather, when the Order was signed, Michael was a party *pro se*. Pursuant to Rule 5, the November 12, 2009, Order should have been served on Michael under the provisions of Rule 5(b)(1). Service upon Jak Smith could no longer be sufficient since Order had itself removed Smith as Michael's counsel. That is, since Smith was no longer Michael's counsel of record, mere service upon him was insufficient under Rule 5.

The Order setting the trial in this case was not served on Michael under Rule 5, and Michael had no notice whatsoever of the trial. Accordingly, the Chancellor should have set the Final Judgment aside and ordered a new trial. The Chancellor's decision should be reversed in this regard.

#### <u>ARGUMENT II.</u>

## THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE FOR A DIVORCE BASED ON HABITUAL DRUNKENESS.

A judgment by default may not be granted in a divorce matter. MISS. CODE ANN. § 93-5-7. Rather, a party seeking a divorce must prove entitlement to a divorce even in the absence of a defense by the other spouse. *Lindsey v. Lindsey*, 818 So. 2d 1191, 1194 (Miss. 2002). The complaining spouse's burden of proof does not become lighter merely because the other spouse does not defend against the allegations. *See Rawson v. Buta*, 609 So. 2d 426, 430 (Miss. 1992). Rather, the spouse must nevertheless present evidence sufficient to prove the grounds for divorce. *See Rawson*, 609 So. 2d at 430.

There must be at least some causal connection between the alleged grounds for divorce and the parties' separation in order for a divorce to be granted. *See Culver v. Culver*, 383 So. 2d 817, 817-18 (Miss. 1980) (insufficient evidence of habitual drunkenness based on spouse's daily consumption of beer where no negative effects established); *Fisher v. Fisher*, 771 So. 2d 364,

367 (Miss. 2000). See also Sproles v. Sproles, 782 So. 2d 742, 748 (Miss. 2001) (noting there was sufficient evidence that husband's cruel treatment and habitual drunkenness was the cause of the dissolution of the marriage). Professor Bell's treatise notes as follows regarding the proof necessary to justify a divorce based on habitual drunkenness:

By analogy to the closely-related ground of habitual drug use, a plaintiff should prove that the defendant was habitually, or frequently, drunk that the drinking adversely affected the marriage, and that the habit continued at the time of the divorce trial.

Deborah H. Bell, BELL ON MISSISSIPPI FAMILY LAW § 4.02(6) (1st Ed. 2005).

In this case, despite Michael's absence from trial and inability to defend himself, Jane offered almost no evidence to support her claim of habitual drunkenness. Jane claimed that Michael drank beer everyday and did not eat until late in the day. Jane claimed that Michael would "pass out" in the home. However, Jane also offered that she understood Michael had quit drinking. The record does not reflect whether Michael was even drinking at the time of the parties' separation. Jane offered no evidence as to the details of the extent of the alleged drinking, how long the alleged drinking had continued, or the effect, if any, the drinking had on the marriage. Jane never even claimed that Michael's drinking had caused the dissolution of the parties' marriage.

Jane's bare allegations that Michael drank beer frequently, without more, were insufficient to justify a divorce under Mississippi law. There was insufficient evidence presented for a divorce on grounds of habitual drunkenness. The Chancellor's decision should be reversed and rendered in this regard.

#### ARGUMENT III.

## THE CHANCELLOR ERRED BY DEPRIVING MICHAEL OF REASONABLE VISITATION WITH HIS CHILD.

The Mississippi Courts have stated:

The best interests of the minor child should be the paramount consideration when establishing any visitation provision, while respecting the rights of the non-custodial parent and the objective of creating an environment conducive to developing as close and loving a relationship as possible between parent and child.

Chalk v. Lentz, 744 So. 2d 789, 792 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999). A non-custodial parent is entitled to reasonable visitation with the child sufficient to foster as normal as possible a parent-child relationship. Cox v. Moulds, 490 So. 2d 866, 870 (Miss. 1986). The goal of visitation to a non-custodial parent is to create an "environment conducive to developing as close and loving a relationship as possible between parent and child." Chalk v. Lentz, 744 So. 2d 789, 792 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999). A non-custodial parent is generally entitled to "liberal" visitation. Messer v. Messer, 850 So. 2d 161, 167 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003). Liberal visitation is generally two weekends per month and four to five weeks of summer visitation, plus some holiday visitation. Messer, 850 So. 2d at 167; Fields v. Fields, 830 So. 2d 1266, 1269 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002).

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