SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2010-CA-000375 (Lee County Chancery Court Cause No. 05-0359-41-L)

MICHAEL TURNER

APPELLANT

VS.

1

JANE TURNER

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JONATHAN W. MARTIN, ESQ. 322 North Broadway Street Post Office Box 6 Tupelo, Mississippi 38802-0006 (662) 841-1433 Mississippi Bar No.

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned, counsel of record, certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the judges of this Court may evaluate any possible disqualification or recusal concerning same:

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Michael Turner was properly served with notice of the December 8, 2009 trial in this case. At the time the November 12, 2009 Order was entered, Michael had counsel of record. Counsel of record, the Honorable Jak Smith, approved the Order which wass granted on his own Motion and personally received a copy of the Order pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 5. Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 5 states that "service shall be made upon such attorney unless service upon the party himself is ordered by the court." The Court did not Order service on Michael. Regardless of Michael's dubious protestations that Attorney Smith failed to inform him of the Order, the Rules do not contemplate it to be Jane's responsibility to advise Michael, through personal service of process, that his own counsel had withdrawn, that he had ten days to seek new counsel, and that the Court had reset the case to a date certain. Attorney Smith had a duty, which he may have performed, to inform his client of the Order entered pursuant to his own motion, and Michael had a duty to represent himself diligently, at minimum to make an entry of appearance and conduct a cursory review of the Court file following the postponement of the trial on the merits.

Jane Turner presented sufficient proof to show that Michael's habitual drunkenness was cause for divorce under Miss. Code. Ann. § 93-5-1 (Fifth). Jane testified that Michael drank everyday, passed out often, took pain medication without eating while he drank, and had to be cared for as a child because of his substance abuse. She testified this behavior took place throughout the marriage. Jane's corroborating witness also testified that Michael's drinking was the proximate cause of the separation.

The Court properly ordered visitation to take place at the mutual agreement of the parties. The Court must first look to the best interests of the minor child in making a visitation schedule, and the Court found that allowing Cameron's primary care giver, Jane, some discretion based on Michael's present state of mind and possible future sobriety to be in Cameron's best interest now and moving forward.

The Court properly conducted an equitable division of the marital estate. Following a finding that Jane was entitled to a divorce on grounds of habitual drunkenness, the Court granted both parties a proper apportionment of the marital estate which the Court found, in its discretion, equitable. The Court conveyed the marital home to Jane, and allowed Michael to maintain full ownership of his home, motorcycle, three other vehicles, personal property, and all of his remaining lump-sum disability benefits.

The Court properly granted Jane's attorney's fees. The proof demonstrated that Michael had a significant separate estate, had failed to timely appear and prosecute a five year old divorce suit, and Jane possessed limited resources to provide for herself and son without contribution from Michael.

6

ARGUMENT I.

THE CHANCELLOR PROPERLY REFUSED TO SET ASIDE THE FINAL DECREE ON THE BASIS OF PURPORTED LACK OF NOTICE.

Michael purports that he was denied due process by Jane for her failure to personally serve or mail the November 12, 2009 Order to him. As a result, Michael claims, he was not given proper notice and the final decree must be set aside.

The November 12, 2009 Order was entered related to an *ore tenus* motion brought by Michael's counsel to withdraw. As Michael's own testimony shows, Michael was present in the courthouse, but not in the courtroom, at 9:30 a.m. on November 12, 2009. (T. p. 102). Michael was agitated with his lawyer, who he felt was unprepared for trial. (T. p. 112). Michael had earlier expressed to his counsel that proceeding to trial on November 12, 2009 would be "legal suicide" and "just like me not showing up." (T. p. 112). Frustrated with Michael's unwillingness to proceed with the now nearly five years pending divorce suit, and forced to defend an empty chair or withdraw, the Hon. Jak Smith requested and was granted leave to withdraw. (R. p. 125).

The Order was entered over Jane's objection. The Order allowed Attorney Smith to withdraw, gave Michael ten days to find new counsel, relieved the Guardian *ad litem* of her duties, and reset the hearing.

Mississippi Rule 5 provides as follows:

Whenever under these rules service is required or permitted to be made upon a party who is represented by an attorney of record in the proceedings, the service shall be made upon such attorney unless service upon the party himself is ordered by the court. Service upon the attorney or upon a party shall be made by delivering a copy to him; or by transmitting it to him by electronic means; or by mailing it to him at his last known address, or if no address is known, by leaving it with the clerk of the court, or by transmitting it to the clerk by electronic means. Delivery of a copy within this rule means: handing it to the attorney or to the party; or leaving it at his office with his clerk or other person in charge thereof; or,

if there is no on one in charge, leaving it in a conspicuous place therein; or, if the office is closed or the person to be served has no office, leaving it at his dwelling house or usual place of abode with some person of suitable age and discretion then residing therein. Service by electronic means is complete when the electronic equipment being used by the attorney or party being served acknowledges receipt of the material. If the equipment used by the attorney or party being served does not automatically acknowledge the transmission, service is not complete until the sending party obtains an acknowledgment from the recipient. Service by mail is complete upon mailing.

Miss. R. Civ. P. 5(b)(1) (emphasis added).

It is undisputed that at the time the motion was granted and the Order was entered, Attorney Smith was counsel of record for Michael. It is undisputed that Attorney Smith had himself received a copy of the Order. (T. p. 133). The Court was presented with testimony at the post-trial hearing that Attorney Smith did not recall whether or not he gave the Order to Michael. Michael's incredible testimony was that Attorney Smith said to him, in essence: he was withdrawing, don't worry about why he was withdrawing after four years of representation, you won't have a trial today, and (even though he knew the trial was reset for December 8) he'd get back with Michael in a couple of months to assist in finding new counsel.

Assuming *arguendo*, Attorney Smith did not properly advise Michael of the Order, the burden to provide Michael notice of his counsel's withdrawal does not and should not shift that burden to Jane. The November 12, 2009 Order was primarily an Order allowing counsel to withdraw necessitated by a motion by Attorney Smith to withdraw. There is no rule, or statute, or case that this counsel can locate which would require opposing counsel to personally serve opposing party with the Order allowing opposing party's former counsel to withdraw.

Not only did Attorney Smith have an ethical obligation to serve Michael with the Order, but Rule 5 clearly contemplates this Order, the final Order entered under Attorney Smith's representation, to be served by Party Counsel, not Opposing Counsel. That the Order contained additional provisions related to resetting and the dismissal of the Guardian *ad litem* should create a greater duty and burden on Attorney Smith, not Jane.

Lastly, Michael's brief cites no authority for the proposition that Jane was required to serve Michael with his own attorney's Order to withdraw.

As no good cause was shown to set the decree, the Court's decision to deny Michael's request to set aside the divorce should be affirmed.

<u>ARGUMENT II.</u>

THE CHANCELLOR PROPERLY GRANTED A DIVORCE ON HABITUAL DRUNKENESS

As noted in Michael's brief, according to Miss. Code Ann. § 93-5-7 (1994), in a divorce matter, no judgment by default may be granted. This does not, however, mean that a claimant is barred from obtaining an uncontested divorce.

According to Rule 55(e) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, no judgment by default shall be entered against a party to a suit for divorce unless the claimant establishes his claim or rights to relief by evidence. M.R.C.P. 55(e). A divorce claimant must prove the allegations of the complaint, even when the defendant has failed to answer or defend. As stated in *Rawson v. Buta*, the rule for default judgments in divorce cases imposes special requirements. *Rawson v. Buta*, 609 So.2d 426, 430 (Miss. 1992). The claimant must present proof in open court. *Id.* Furthermore, a divorce will not be granted on the uncorroborated testimony of the claimant. *Anderson v. Anderson*, 190 Miss. 508, 200 So. 726, 727 (1941).

In *Sproles v. Sproles*, 782 So. 2d, 742, 748 (Miss. 2001), the Mississippi Supreme Court affirmed the granting of a divorce on grounds of habitual drunkenness based on testimony that the husband drank each night and his drinking caused his mental condition to become intolerable to any reasonable person.

Jane testified clearly as to the duration of the drinking, along with its negative effect on her and the marriage. Jane testified that Michael drank every day of the marriage. (T. p. 81) He drank alcohol and took pain medication for a previous disc injury from the time he woke up in the morning. (T. p. 81-82). Michael drank the alcohol and ingested the pain medication without eating at all until around 10:00 p.m. (T. p. 81). Jane testified that because of Michael's substance abuse, she had to walk him to bed, disrobe him herself, and put him in bed. (T. p. 81). Jane testified that she was, in essence, taking care of a child. (T. p. 81). Jane then referred the Court to the pictures and testimony introduced as evidence in the March 8, 2006 temporary hearing: pictures of Michael passed out in his food, pictures of Michael clothes and the furniture poked with holes from his fallen cigarette. (T. p. 82). Jane's testimony was uncontraverted.

Jane next called Sara Tims ("Sara"), a friend of Jane's for thirty years. (T. p. 91). Sara testified that every time she saw Michael he was drunk. (T. p. 91). She further testified that she believes the alcoholism was the proximate cause of the separation of Michael and Jane. (T. p. 91). Sara's testimony was uncontroverted.

Jane presented sufficient proof of Michael's drunkenness and its effects on the marriage, both at the time of the final hearing and at the temporary hearing, such that the Court's rant of a divorce on grounds of habitual drunkenness should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT III.

THE CHANCELLOR DID NOT ERR IN DETERMINING MICHAEL'S VISITATION SCHEDULE.

Michael argues that the chancery court's imposition of a visitations as agreed upon by the parties was manifest error and an abuse of discretion. Michael contends that the visitation was ordered was less that what he was allowed in the temporary order from four years prior. *Cox v. Moulds*, 490 So.2d 866, 868 (Miss.1986), Michael points out that " the visitation rights of the

non-custodial parent should be tantamount to custody with respect to the place and manner of exercise of same, except in the most unusual circumstances[,]" that is-" something approaching actual danger or other substantial detriment to the children...."

In domestic-relation matters, as with other issues concerning children, our chancellors enjoy considerable discretion with visitation issues. *Harrell v. Harrell*, 231 So.2d 793, 797 (Miss.1970). When determining visitation, the best interest of the child is the main concern, " keeping in mind the rights of the non-custodial parent and the objective that parent and child should have as close and loving a relationship as possible, despite the fact that they may not live in the same house." *White v. Thompson*, 569 So.2d 1181, 1185 (Miss.1990) (citing *Cox*, 490 So.2d at 870). Accordingly, this Court affords great deference to a chancellor's decision regarding visitation. *Id*.

The record shows that Michael is a habitual substance abuser of alcohol and pain medication. The chancellor properly took into consideration the child's best interests in his decision, with Jane stated for the record the possibility and hope that Michael may be granted some greater form of visitation with his child in the future.

The law is well established that when a judgment of divorce is supported by substantial evidence that unless the Chancellor abused his discretion, was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or applied an erroneous legal standard, the Chancellor's findings will be upheld. See *Sanderson v. Sanderson*, 824 So.2d 623, 625-26 (Miss. 2002). The Chancellor's decision in the matter at hand was proper and should be affirmed by this Court.

11

ARGUMENT IV.

THE CHANCELLOR DID NOT ERR IN DISTRIBUTING THE MARITAL ASSETS AND APPORTIONING THE MARITAL DEBT.

Michael next contends that the division of the marital estate was unjust. "'A chancellor's findings of fact will not be disturbed unless manifestly wrong or clearly erroneous." *Sanderson v. Sanderson*, 824 So.2d 623, 625 (Miss. 2002). A chancellor's conclusions of law are reviewed de novo. *Chesney v. Chesney*, 910 So.2d 1057, 1060 (Miss. 2005). The distribution of marital assets in a divorce will be affirmed if "'it is supported by substantial credible evidence." *Bowen v. Bowen*, 982 So.2d 385, 393-394 (Miss. 2008) (quoting *Owen*, 928 So.2d at 160).

The Chancellor granted Jane a divorce on grounds of habitual drunkenness. (T. p. 95). Jane was awarded full legal and physical custody of Cameron, full ownership of the former marital residence, seventeen hundred dollars (\$1,700) in past medical expense reimbursement, ownership of a Nissan Altima automobile, and fifteen hundred dollars (\$1,500) in attorney's fees. (T. p 92-95). Additionally, Michael's child support would be satisfied through Jane's receipt of Cameron's monthly disability dependant payment of approximately eight hundred dollars (\$800). (T. p 95). Michael was granted visitation with Cameron as agreed upon by the parties. (T. p. 95). Jane was not awarded ownership of a Harley Davidson motorcycle or three vehicles, alimony, the mobile home in Michael's possession or the personal property found therein. (T. p 92-95). Jane also did not receive any of Michael's remaining lump sum disability settlement, valued on the date of trial as approximately sixty thousand dollars (\$60,000). (T. p 92-95).

"[M]arital misconduct is a viable factor entitled to be given weight by the chancellor when the misconduct places a burden on the stability and harmony of the marital and family relationship." *Carrow v. Carrow*, 642 So.2d 901, 904-05 (Miss. 1994). *See also Brabham v. Brabham*, 950 So.2d 1098, 1101-02 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). "[A]n equitable division of property

does not necessarily mean an equal division of property." Chamblee v. Chamblee, 637 So.2d 850, 863-64 (Miss. 1994).

The Court clearly considered Michael's fault, and apportioned the assets and debts of the marriage in a fair and equitable manor falling within the Court's discretion. As such, the decision of the Chancellor should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT V.

THE CHANCELLOR DID NOT ERR IN AWARDING ATTORNEYS' FEES

Michael also takes issue with the chancellor's imposition of fifteen hundred dollars in attorney's fees to Jane. "An award of attorney's fees in domestic cases is largely a matter entrusted to the sound discretion of the trial court." *Lauro v. Lauro*, 924 So.2d 584, 591 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006); *Arthur v. Arthur*, 691 So.2d 997, 1004 (Miss. 1997)). Unless we find the chancellor was manifestly wrong, we will not disturb the attorney's fees award on appeal. *Lauro*, 924 So.2d at 591.

Factors to be considered in an award of attorney's fees include the relative financial ability of the parties; the skill and standing of the attorney employed; the nature of the case and novelty and difficulty of the questions at issue; the degree of responsibility involved in the management of the cause; the time and labor required; the usual customary charge in the community; and, the preclusion of other employment by the attorney due to the acceptance of the case. *McKee v. McKee*, 418 So.2d 764, 767 (Miss. 1982).

The chancellor awarded Jane fifteen hundred dollars (\$1,500) toward her attorney's fees after considering her limited financial resources, Michael's financial ability to pay, particularly considering his separate property of approximately sixty-five thousand dollars (\$65,000), and the difficulty and frustrations involved in bringing Michael into court to finally conclude the matter. The Chancellor's decision was not manifestly wrong, was supported by the credible evidence before the Court, and should be affirmed.

CONCLUSION

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